## COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2014-CA-01671

CITY OF HATTIESBURG, MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLANT** 

versus

PRECISION CONSTRUCTION, LLC

**APPELLEE** 

APPEAL from Judgment of the Circuit Court for Forrest County, Mississippi

# **BRIEF FOR APPELLANT**

[ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED]

James W. Gladden, Jr.
[Miss. State Bar #04866]
Gladden Law Office, PLLC
Attorney for Appellant
Post Office Box 1854
Hattiesburg, Mississippi 39403-1854
601.450.3625

#### THE MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

CITY OF HATTIESBURG. MISSISSIPPI \* APPELLANT

\*

versus \* Case No. 2014-CA-01671

.

PRECISION CONSTRUCTION, LLC \* APPELLEE

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the Arbitrator erred in not allowing the City's motion for reconsideration of his Decision under § 11-15-123, MCA to be heard when it had been filed within 20 days of his Supplemental Decision?
- II. Whether the Arbitrator made material and evident miscalculations in determining the award for claims against the City for Precision's mobilizations without deducting a previous payment to Precision of \$93,000.00 for mobilizations?
- III. Whether the Arbitrator made material and evident miscalculations in determining the award for the "lost profits" claims against the City for unused 30" PVC pipe when the cost for pipe had been previously paid to Precision by the City?
- **IV.** Whether the Forrest County Circuit Court erred in denying the City's motion to correct material and evident miscalculations in the Arbitrator's decision to award \$93,000.00 in excessive damages to Precision for its mobilizations?

#### STATEMENT FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

The City of Hattiesburg requests oral argument in this case and will, after the filing of the Appellee's brief, file a request for oral argument pursuant to Rule 34(b) setting forth additional reasons why oral argument should be granted. The undersigned counsel for the City of Hattiesburg believes that this case, because of the issues raised therein, is important enough to justify oral argument.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying case was filed in the Circuit Court for Forrest County, Mississippi ("circuit court") to confirm a decision and award and a supplemental decision and supplemental award of the arbitrator on a breach of contract claim by Precision against the City. The original complaint of Precision was filed on January 03, 2012, asserting several claims under a construction contract against the City and seeking binding arbitration of the asserted claims. (R., 8-77). Litigation of the claims asserted by Precision was stayed pending the completion of binding arbitration of the claims asserted by Precision in both its demand for arbitration and its complaint.

The City refused to agree to binding arbitration since it was not mandatory under the construction contract between Precision and the City. The circuit court ordered binding arbitration of the claims in the underlying civil action and stayed litigation pending the arbitration. The City would not agree to the appointment of a specific arbitrator from the list offered by Precision, but the circuit court eventually rendered an agreed order appointing Donald Dornan as arbitrator. (RE. 8) After the parties were given the opportunity to submit pre-hearing position statements and seek discovery, the arbitrator held a hearing over the period June 03-04, 2014.

The result of the arbitration hearing was the Decision of Arbitrator ("decision") rendered July 02, 2014, and the arbitrator's Supplemental Decision and Award of Attorney's Fees ("supplemental decision) rendered on July 24, 2014. (RE. 4 and 5) Certain issues with these two decisions are in dispute by the City. The City believes that the arbitrator made egregious material and evident miscalculations in the his decisions. Secondly, the City asserts that the proper time for it to move the arbitrator for reconsideration of its decisions was twenty days after July 24, 2014 and not twenty days after July 02, 2014.

The City accepts the arbitrator's determination that the City breached its construction contract with Precision, but several substantial miscalculations of the claims of Precision against the City are evident miscalculations by the arbitrator. The first is in respect to mobilizations of equipment from one locale to another during the time the contract was in force. The City asserts that the arbitrator materially miscalculated these damages by not allowing for a discount to the City for its prior payment of \$93,000.00 for mobilizations. The second area of concern is the burdensome and egregious miscalculations by the arbitrator in calculating "lost profits" by Precision. The City asserts that the arbitrator made material and evident miscalculations in his computation of the "lost profits" award by not deducting the cost of the materials already paid to Precision by the City and by not calculating "lost net profits.".

On August 12, 2014, the City filed a motion with the arbitrator to reconsider his award and supplemental award. (R., 157-171) After Precision filed it response in opposition to the City's motion and after the City filed its rebuttal, the arbitrator rendered his order denying the City's motion. (RE. 6). On September 16, 2014, the City filed a Motion to Stay Hearing on and Defer Disposition of Motion and a Motion, with Authorities, to Amend, Modify and/or Correct Arbitrator's

Decision and Supplemental Decision. Precision filed its opposition to both motions. (R., 191-217A).

After a hearing on the City's motions, the circuit court rendered an order granting, in part, and denying, in part, the City's motion to correct the arbitrator's decision and supplemental decision. (RE. 2). Further, the circuit court granted Precision's motion to confirm the arbitration award. In its Judgment *Nunc Pro Tunc*, the circuit court granted an \$856,666.46 judgment for Precision, ordered the City to pay the balance of unpaid arbitrator's fees and ordered that the judgment shall bear and interest at 8.0% per annum from September 26, 2104 until paid. (RE. 3). The City filed its Notice of Appeal of the circuit court's judgment on November 19, 2014. (R., 327-328).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 03, 2012, Precision entered into a construction contract with the City for the purposes of making repairs to certain sewer lines within the City limits, a project described as 592 Program Sewer Rehabilitation, Contract No. 2 ("contract"). (R., 28). The value of this contract was \$1,874,847.75. (R., 31). From the start of the contract until the demand on March 06, 2013 by Precision on the City to arbitrate pending disputes, the project was beset with a number of problems, both anticipated and unanticipated. In its March 06, 2103 demand for arbitration, Precision sought the following relief:

- a. "[T]he City accept and acknowledge a differing site condition pursuant to Section 4.4 of the Contract," payment of all costs related to any response by the City and the contract be extended a reasonable period to allow Precision to perform the work;
- b. "[T]he City pay at least the sum of \$8,450.00 for repair on the waterline on Timothy

  Lane and an extension of . . . time" to allow Precision to perform the work;
- c. "[T]he City . . . compensate Precision, at its cost, for approximately 1,050 linear feet of PVC pipe ordered at the direction of the City . . .;"

- d. "[T]he city engineer act on Precision Construction's request for change order for additional work incurred on 8th Street, . . .;"
- e. Precision "be reimbursed for all costs for removal of muck from manholes and pipe after the collapse of waterline on project, . . .;" and
- f. Precision be awarded "a time extension to the contract and appropriate damages for delays caused by . . . engineers [in relocating] from one portion of the project to the other. . . . " (R., 9-10).

As part of its arbitration demand, Precision also sought (1) an injunction against the City prohibiting it from "taking any action against it in retribution for filing the demand for arbitration" and (2) "it be awarded all of its reasonable attorney's fees and costs in pursuing arbitration and that the City . . . be assessed with all costs of the arbitrator." (R., 10).

On March 29, 2013, Precision filed its Complaint against the City in the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi ("circuit court"). Precision sought damages against the City for breach of contract, including all nine items in its demand letter of March 06, 2013, referenced above. (R., 10-10A). Further, Precision requested the circuit court for an order staying the litigation and compelling arbitration. (R., 10A)

After the parties could not agree on arbitration, Precision filed, on May 03, 2013, its Notice of Hearing to compel arbitration under its complaint filed in the circuit court. (R., 78). The City filed its Answer to the Precision's Complaint on May 08, 2013, in part acknowledging Precision's demand to compel arbitration, but denying the necessity of such arbitration. (R., 79-82). On June 06, 2013, the circuit court ordered that the proceedings in the lower court should be stayed pending "binding arbitration pursuant to section 11-15-101." (sic) (RE. 7; R., 83-84).

On June 10, 2013, Precision filed its Motion for Appointment of Arbitrators. This motion acknowledged that the City did not agree to the appointment of an arbitrator, and, further, asked the circuit court to appoint any of three arbitrators referenced in a May 20, 2013 letter to the City. (R., 85-92). On July 10, 2013, the circuit court entered an Agreed Order on Appointment of Arbitrators, naming "the Honorable Donald Dornan of Gulfport, Mississippi as arbitrator." (RE. 8; R., 93-94). The parties entered into an Arbitration Agreement on August 05, 2013, identifying, in part, (1) that the issues before the arbitrator are those submitted in "the case of *Precision Construction, LLC v. City of Hattiesburg, Mississippi*," and (2) the arbitration would be governed by the rules of the Mississippi Construction Arbitration Act. (R., 151).

An arbitration hearing was held on June 03-04, 2014, during which oral and documentary evidence was submitted by both parties. After the hearing, the parties were allowed to submit "post-hearing memoranda summarizing their positions." (R., 105). The decision was rendered on July 02, 2014, wherein the arbitrator awarded Precision "the sum of \$843,929.53 from the [City] for its claim of breach of contract"; assessed all arbitration fees in excess of \$5,000.00 to the City; and determined that Precision is entitled to attorney's fees and costs as against the City which would be determined in a "supplemental award" from the arbitrator. (R. 105-106).

The decision, dated June 25, 2014 contains the determinations of the arbitrator and the rationale for his decision. (R. 107-151). The City acknowledges that the decision of the arbitrator with respect to the determination that the City had breached its contract with Precision is not readily challengeable. However, the arbitrator's breakdown of his award as shown in Exhibit A, attached to his decision, is contested by the City because it is replete with egregious errors and evident miscalculations. These errors will be discussed fully in the argument of the issues herein, but, in summary form, the arbitrator awarded the following:

- (1) "Lost Profit on 30" Pipe" for "3,654 x \$126.38 per foot" in the sum of \$461,792.52;
- (2) "Lost Profit on Select Fill" for "6,919 x \$10 per yard" in the sum \$69,190.00;
- (3) "Lost Profit on Asphalt" for both base course and surface course in the sum \$23,045.83;
- (4) "Extra Work" in the amount of \$81,317.23;
- (5) "Extra Mobilization/Site Moves" for "5 @ \$31,000 each" in the sum of \$155,000.00;
- (6) "Claim for Stored Material" in the sum of \$18,164.93; and
- (7) "Retainage" in the sum of \$35,419.64. (R., 147-148).

The arbitrator rendered his supplemental decision and award of attorneys' fees on July 24, 2014, wherein he awarded to Precision the sum of \$76,257.65 in "attorney's fees and expenses" and assessed the sum \$7,032.74 against the City for remaining unpaid arbitration fees. (RE. 5, 293-300). The magnitude of the attorney's fees and expenses was a substantial portion of the overall, cumulative award to Precision.

On August 12, 2014, the City filed its Motion for Reconsideration of Arbitrator's Decision and Supplemental Decision with the arbitrator under § 11-15-123, MCA setting out those grounds under § 11-15-135, MCA for which the arbitrator could modify, correct or affirm the award. (R., 157-171). [NOTE: Exhibit D of the motion is missing from the record, but is shown as Exhibit F (R., 190).]. On August 19, 2014, Precision filed its response to the City's motion, and, subsequently, the City filed its rebuttal to Precision's opposition on August 27, 2014 (R., 180-190). On August 29, 2014, the arbitrator peremptorily denied the City's motion for reconsideration of the decision because it was not filed within twenty days of receipt of the award, and then denied the City's challenge to the supplemental decision. (RE. 6). The City contends that the decision of the arbitrator was not final until he rendered his supplemental decision for attorney's fees and expenses because they were a claim sought by Precision in its demand for arbitration and in its complaint. It

is noteworthy that counsel for Precision did not perceive there to be a bifurcation of the rule under § 11-15-123, MCA with respect to when decision was final. Precision did not object to the filing of the City's motion as being outside the 20-day requirement of § 11-15-123, MCA.

On September 16, 2014, the City filed with circuit court its Motion to Say Hearing on and Defer Disposition of Motion (R., 191-192) and its Motion, with Authorities, to Amend, Modify and/or Correct Arbitrator's Decision and Supplemental Decision (R., 193-220). Precision filed its responses to both motions on September 26, 2014 (R., 221-319). A hearing was held before the circuit court on these motions, and on October 22, 2014, the circuit court rendered an Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part the City of Hattiesburg's Motion . . . to Amend, Modify and/or Correct Arbitrator's Decision and Supplemental Decision and Granting Precision Construction's Motion for Confirmation of Arbitration Award. (R., 320-322). The circuit court issued its Judgment *Nunc Pro Tunc* on October 22, 2014 (R., 323). This appeal was filed on November 19, 2014. (R., 327-328).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The circuit court ordered an arbitration in this civil action, and then confirmed a modified award and supplemental award rendered by the arbitrator. The City contends that errors related to three aspects of the case on appeal. First, after the award and supplemental award were rendered by the arbitrator, the City filed with the arbitrator a motion for reconsideration of both awards under § 11-15-123, MCA within the 20-day period after receipt of the supplemental award from the arbitrator. The arbitrator erred in denying that part of the City's motion relating to his original decision and award because the motion was not filed within twenty days of the date of the receipt of the award. Such a decision does not reflect judicial economy nor the fact that reconsideration of an action should only be taken after all claims sought by the plaintiff are decided.

Secondly, the City contends that the arbitrator made material and evident miscalculations in his decision and supplemental decision, resulting in an egregious and inequitable award of damages against the City. The miscalculations were so obvious that counsel for Precision agreed that the arbitrator awarded certain damages based on incorrect information, given by Precision in an earlier request for damages. There are, at least, two other areas of evident miscalculations by the arbitrator which need to be corrected or amended, namely, (1) the award for mobilizations of equipment used during the work on the project by Precision and (2) the award for "lost profits" was calculated as a form of lost revenue which is not the same as "lost profits" and, certainly, not the "lost net profits" that are permitted in breach of contract disputes in the State of Mississippi.

Finally, the City of Hattiesburg contends that the circuit erred in not amending or correcting the arbitrator's award and decision with respect to mobilizations of used during work on the project by Precision. The basis for this contention is the decision of the arbitrator and the evidence

presented to him by Precision during the hearing make it clear that the arbitrator failed to give the City a credit of \$93,000.00 for money already paid to Precision for mobilization of equipment.

#### **ARGUMENTS**

I. Whether the Arbitrator erred in not allowing the City's motion for reconsideration of his Decision under § 11-15-123, MCA to be heard when it had been filed within 20 days of his Supplemental Decision?

The court-appointed arbitrator held an arbitration hearing from June 03-04, 2014 on the breach of contract issues raised by Precision in its demand for arbitration and the complaint which it filed in the circuit court. (RE. 4, 110). The arbitrator rendered his decision on July 02, 2014, wherein he awarded cumulative damages against the City in the amount of \$843,929.55, assessed the excess unpaid arbitrator's fees against the City, and stated that Precision was entitled to attorney's fees as it had claimed and that a "supplemental award of attorney's fees will be entered following the submissions of the parties." (RE. 4, 105-106). Importantly, the parties did not state in writing that they considered this award to be final because a substantial claim was yet to be determined by the arbitrator. Further, the arbitrator did not state in his decision that it was a final award which could modified by the arbitrator under §11-15-123, MCA, or amended by the circuit court under § 11-15-135, MCA. (RE. 4, 105-106). This is perfectly logical in that a major claim sought by Precision was still to be decided.

The City asserts that its Motion for Reconsideration of Arbitrator's Decision and Supplemental Decision was timely filed under § 11-15-123, MCA with respect to the 20-day time constraint of the statute. However, the arbitrator made an erroneous decision to bifurcate his decision and supplemental decision with respect to this 20-day requirement without giving notice to either party that his intention was to treat his decision as final on July 02, 2014, and then treat his supplemental decision as final on July 24, 2014. (RE. 5, 297). Indeed, if the parties had been aware of the arbitrator's intention to treat his two decisions in that manner, then (1) the City would certainly have filed a motion for reconsideration within twenty days of July 02, 2014 and (2) Precision would

have raised this as issue in response for the denial of the City's motion for reconsideration. It quite apparent that counsel for both parties did not view the arbitrator's initial decision as being final with a substantial claim still pending.

The City filed its motion for reconsideration of the many substantial and evident miscalculations made by the arbitrator in his decision and supplemental decision. In doing this, the City complied with that part of § 11-15-123, MCA that states the party seeking reconsideration enumerate those grounds identified in § 11-15-135, MCA for seeking an amendment or correction of the arbitrator's decisions.

"An arbitration award must be final, complete, and coextensive with the submission." 4 Am.Jr.2d, Alternative Dispute Resolution, §§ 186, 177. One of the characteristics which distinguishes arbitration from other forms of alternative dispute resolution ("ADR") is the finality of the award and the fact that it is enforceable at that time. *Id.* An essential element inducing parties to submit to arbitration is that the award or decision has finality. Otherwise, it defeats the purposes of reducing litigation costs and time for the parties. *Id. See also, St. John's Mercy Medical Center* v. Delfina, 414 F.3d 882 (8th Cir. 2005); American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees v. Metropolitan Water Dist. of Southern California, 126 Cal. App. 4th 247, Cal. Rptr. 3d 285 (2d. Dist. 2005). "The award must conform to and fully satisfy the questions submitted, . . . and no further act must remain to be done or inquiry remain to be made so far as the matters submitted are concerned." Id. "An award is indefinite or nonfinal within the meaning of the statute 'only if it leaves the parties unable to determine their rights and obligations, if it does not resolve the controversy submitted or if it creates a new controversy." Yoonessi v. Givens, 2010 NY Slip Op 08312 [78AD3d 1622] (App.Div. 4th Dept. November 12, 2010), citing, Matter of Meisels v. Uhr, 79 NY2d 526, 536 (1992).

In the instant case, the arbitrator's decision was not final nor complete with respect to all issues submitted to him by the parties. Basically, an arbitration award is final upon the resolution of "the rights and obligations of the parties definitively enough to preclude the need for further adjudication with respect to the issue submitted to arbitration." *Ecopetrol S.A. v. Offshore Exploration and Production LLC*, 46 F.Supp. 3d 327, 336 (S.D. N.Y. 2014). The initial decision of the arbitrator in the underlying case was not complete in that omitted and left for latter determination an important claim raised by Precision in its demand for arbitration and in its complaint filed in the circuit court.

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