2014-CA-01671

Pages: 31

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

CITY OF HATTIESBURG, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

VS.

CASE NO. 2014-CA-01671

PRECISION CONSTRUCTION, LLC

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FORREST COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI; CAUSE NO. CI13-0068

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

SUBMITTED BY:

Mark D. Herbert (Bar No.2370) JONES WALKER LLP 190 East Capitol St., Ste. 800 (39201) Post Office Box 427 Jackson, MS 39205 (601) 949-4900

{JX163475.1}

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

CITY OF HATTIESBURG, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2014-CA-01671

PRECISION CONSTRUCTION, LLC

APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This appeal involves the not uncommon attack on an arbitration award by a disappointed defendant against which an award of \$856,666.46 was given in a thirty-nine (39) page detailed decision and award. The attack is based solely on the Appellant's contention that the arbitrator's decision was wrong on both his findings of fact and his application of the law, especially as to the measure of damages. The well settled decisions of the Court foreclose such an attack.

This arbitration was conducted pursuant to Sections 11-15-101 through 11-15-143, commonly known as the Mississippi Construction Arbitration Act (R 151). Claims to **vacate** an award under that Act are allowed only upon the very limited grounds set forth in Section 11-15-133. Similarly, claims to **modify** or **correct** an award are allowed only upon the limited grounds of Section 11-15-135(1)(a)-(c). In neither its Motion for Reconsideration to the Arbitrator, nor its Motion to Amend, etc. made to the Circuit Court below did Hattiesburg make any effort to come within any of these provisions. It utterly failed to make any argument or claim of "evident miscalculation of figures" as set forth in 11-15-135(1)(a), but upon which it now attempts to premise its appeal. Appellant's failure to make the claim of "evident miscalculation of figures" below is fatal to its attempted appeal on that issue now.

However, even if the City had properly made an assertion of "evident miscalculation of figures" to either the arbitrator or the trial court and properly preserved that issue for appeal, the facts presented and the arbitrator's detailed thirty-nine (39) page decision and award do not support such a conclusion.

The arbitrator properly applied the twenty (20) day time limitation of Section 11-15-123 since his initial decision, handed down on June 25, 2014 and transcribed and issued in writing on July 2, 2014, already contained his decision granting Precision an award of attorney's fees. Only the amount of fees was left to be decided by subsequent petition. Once again, however, the City failed to raise this issue at the trial court level and the Circuit Judge was never asked to vacate, correct or modify the arbitrator's decision on this point. It is being raised for the first time on this appeal and it is being raised as an error on the part of the arbitrator, not the court below. It is respectfully submitted that under 11-15-133 and 11-15-135, this Court does not now have jurisdiction to second guess the arbitrator or delve again into the merits of the arbitration award, only to review the decision of the Court below.

Finally, even if the Arbitrator improperly applied that twenty (20) day time limitation of 11-15-123 (which is not admitted), it was harmless error. Pursuant to that section, any motion directed to the arbitrator to modify or correct his award must be premised on the limited grounds allowed by Section 11-15-135(1)(a)-(c). However, nowhere in its Motion for Reconsideration directed to the arbitrator does the City even mention 11-15-135, nor does it claim relief under any of its three (3) limited grounds. Specifically, although the City now claims on the appeal that the **arbitrator** committed an "evident miscalculation of figures," those words are not found anywhere in its Motion for Reconsideration to the Arbitrator. And, as noted above, there is nothing in the arbitrator's decision that would support such a conclusion. Thus, under the facts presented by the record, it would have been error for the arbitrator to consider the City's motion and certainly error to grant it. Therefore, even if this Court should find that the arbitrator misapplied 11-15-123 (which is not admitted), it should find that it was harmless error and not a ground for reversal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court's appellate review of this arbitration award is governed and limited by the provisions of the Mississippi Construction Arbitration Act, particularly Sections 11-15-133 and 11-15-135. In as much as the Appellant does not seek to vacate the award, this Court's review is therefore limited to those grounds for modification or correction of an award set forth in Section 11-15-135(1)(a)-(c). *Hutto v. Jordan*, 36 So. 2d 809, 810 (Miss. 1948) and *D'Angelo v. Hometown Concepts*, 791 So. 2d 270, 272-273 (Miss. App. 2001).

Generally, this Court sits, only as an appellate court, not as a trier of fact *ab initio*. *Allgood v. Allgood*, 473 So. 2d 416 (Miss 1988). This Court does review the trial court's interpretation of statutes as a question of law *de novo*. *Mississippi Ethics Comm. v. Grishman*, 957 So. 2d 997 (Miss. 2007). But, the trial court's findings of fact will not be disturbed unless manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied, *Upchurch Plumbing v. Greenwood Utilities Comm*, 964 So. 2d 1100 (Miss. 2007) and *City of Jackson v. Powell*, 917 So. 2d 59 (Miss. 2005).

ARGUMENT

A. THE MISSISSIPPI CONSTRUCTION ARBITRATION ACT

Although Hattiesburg initially fought Precision's efforts to arbitrate this dispute, the Circuit Court eventually ordered the matter to arbitration. In its order, the Circuit Court ordered that the arbitration was to be conducted pursuant to the Mississippi Construction Arbitration Act. (R 83) Eventually, Hattiesburg and Precision entered into an arbitration agreement which provided that all proceedings would be conducted pursuant to that Act. All proceedings in the circuit court would be stayed pending the outcome of the arbitration.

B. APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESERVE ITS ISSUES BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT

1. To Be Preserved For Appeal, Issues Must Be Raised Before The Trial Court

It is axiomatic that an appellant's failure to raise an issue at the trial court level bars this Court's consideration of that issue for the first time on appeal. *Jones v. Fluor Daniel Services*, 959 So. 2d 1044 (Miss. 2007) (Supreme Court does not consider issue raised for the first time on appeal); *Allen v. National RR Passenger Corp.*, 934 So. 2d 1006 (Miss. 2006)(failure to preserve issue for appeal renders issue procedurally barred); *Prestidge v. City of Petal*, 841 So. 2d 1048 (Miss. 2003) (if not raised at trial level, issue is waived). Part of the reason for such a rule is fundamental fairness to the judicial process and the trial court. The trial court should be given the first opportunity to correct any errors in the proceedings. *See e.g. West v. West*, 891 So. 2d 203 (Miss 2004), *Southern v. Miss. State Hospital*, 853 So. 2d 1212 (Miss. 2003).

2. Appellant Never Raised the Issue of "Evident Miscalculation of Figures" to the Trial Court

As noted, nowhere in its Motion to Amend, etc. filed with the Circuit Court did Hattiesburg assert that the arbitrator's decision exhibited any "evident miscalculation of figures." In fact, these words do not appear anywhere in its Motion. The first time Hattiesburg has made **any** claim that the arbitrator's decision exhibited "evident miscalculation of figures" is in its Statement of Issues in its brief filed in this Court. (Brief p. 6)

Interestingly, Hattiesburg asserts four issues to be decided by this Court. As to issues I, II and III, Hattiesburg assets errors by the "**Arbitrator**," not the trial court. Only in Issue IV does Hattiesburg even attempt to cite to any error of law or fact by the Circuit Court. (Brief p. 6)

Appellee will concede that in his October 22, 2014 Order, the Circuit Court found that Hattiesburg's Motion to Amend, etc. "challenges calculation of the sums awarded" and that the

success of its Motion was dependent upon it showing "evident miscalculation of figures" (R 321), even though this had **never** been argued by Hattiesburg. Of course, the court concluded that Hattiesburg failed to meet is burden under 11-15-135(1)(a). (R 321)

However, as noted above, in only Issue No. IV of its four "issues" does Hattiesburg even attempt to assert that the Circuit Court erred. Clearly, in a much as Issues I, II and III were never raised to the Circuit Court, under the authorities cited above, they are waived. But, its total failure to raise these issues in its Motion to Amend, etc., deprived Precision of an opportunity to ensure that the trial court had before it full arguments, authorities and evidence to support its findings that there was no "evident miscalculation of figures." Had Hattiesburg asserted those claims in the Court below, Precision could have responded and offered the trial court both authorities and proposed findings that would further support the Court's ultimate ruling. It is fundamentally unfair to Precision and the trial court to allow Hattiesburg to be silent on this issue in the Court below, but now, for the first time on appeal attack the sufficiency of the Court's finding in Issue No. IV.

C. THE APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO SHOW ANY BASIS FOR MODIFYING OR CORRECTING THE ARBITRATION AWARD

This Court has succinctly stated the standard for review of arbitration awards such as the decision in this case:

The standard of review for vacating, modifying, or correcting arbitration decisions is set out in Miss. Code Ann. Sections 11-15-133 and 135. These sections contain specific grounds, and the time frame during which they must be asserted, which represents the only way a court is allowed to overturn the award of an arbitrator.

Johnson Land Co. v. C.E. Frazier Constr. Co., 925 So. 2d 80, 83 (Miss. 2006).

As early as 1948, this Court established the rule of giving great deference to the

decisions of arbitrators.

{JX163475.1}

The applicable general rule is announced as follows: "Errors of law or fact, or an erroneous decision of matters submitted to the judgment of the arbitrators, are insufficient to invalidate an award fairly and honestly made. Nothing in the award relative to the merits of the controversy as submitted, however wrongly decided, is ground for setting aside an award in absence of fraud, misconduct, or other valid objections."

"Unless the arbitrators are restricted by the agreement of submission, the general rule is that they are the final judges of both law and fact, and an award will not be reviewed or set aside for mistake in either."

Hutto, 36 So. 2d at 809 (1948), (quoting 3 Am. Jur. Section 135 Award and Arbitration). The

Hutto Court went on to hold:

In dealing with this topic, we have said that "the rights of the parties are narrower than in judicial trials, for there is no review or correction of errors of the judgment, either upon the law or facts, nor indeed would the arbitrators be absolutely barred by the strict law of the case. They might proceed altogether on views of what was right and just between the parties without following either the rules that would govern a court of law or equity in the circumstances. It is not legitimate, therefore in exceptions to the award, to inquire into the original merits in favor of one party or the other, or to show that in the evidence the award ought to have been different, or that the law of the case was misconceived or misapplied, or that the decision, in view of all facts and circumstances, was unjust."

Id. (quoting Jenkins v. Meagher et al., 46 Miss. 84 (1871)).

In Craig v. Barber, 524 So. 2d 974 (Miss. 1988) an arbitration conducted pursuant to

Section 11-15-101 et. seq., this Court held:

Articles of agreement to arbitrate, and awards thereon are to be liberally construed so as to encourage the settlement of disputes and the prevention of litigation, and every reasonable presumption will be indulged in favor of the validity of arbitration proceedings.

Id. at 977. The Craig Court also noted that Section 11-15-133 provides:

{JX163475.1}

The fact that the relief was such that it could not or would not be granted by a court of law or equity is no grounds for vacating or refusing to confirm the award.

Id. at 978.

In *Johnson Land Co.*, this Court was presented with an appeal of a disappointed owner in a construction case arbitrated under 11-15-101, *et, seq.* Although the losing owner sought to oppose the contractor's motion to confirm the award, it did not do so on any of the grounds provided for in Sections 11-15-133 or 135. There the Court held:

...the award shall be confirmed absent the existence of a least one of the grounds listed for vacating, modifying, or correcting an award. Because Johnson did not assert any of these grounds in its response asserting that the motion to confirm was premature, its motion to set aside judgment, motion to vacate, or motion to reconsider, we agree that the circuit court properly confirmed the award.

Johnson Land Co., 925 So. 2d at 84.

As in *Johnson Land Co.*, the appellant in the instant case seeks to modify or correct the arbitrator's decision based upon appellant's contention that he made incorrect findings of fact, and that he applied the wrong measure of damages. Appellant even went so far as to offer new exhibits after the arbitration had been completed which it believes the arbitrator should subsequently consider. While it now realizes that its challenge to the decision must be upon one of the grounds allowed by 11-15-135(1)(a)-(c), it did not make any such assertion to either the arbitrator or the circuit court below. In fact, the words "evident miscalculation of figures" are nowhere found in either its Motion for Reconsideration to the Arbitrator or its Motion to Amend, etc. to the trial court. Appellant has failed to show any basis for this Court to modify or correct the arbitrator's decision.

D. THE ARBITRATOR'S AWARD DEMONSTRATES NO "EVIDENT MISCALCULATION OF FIGURES"

Even should this Court find that the challenge to the arbitrator's decision on the basis of "evident miscalculation of figures" was preserved by the trial court's ruling, the appellant has wholly failed to offer any facts or argument to support that conclusion.

No decision of this Court has ever directly construed "evident miscalculation of figures" under Section 11-15-135(1)(a). However, in *D'Angelo*, a homeowner challenged the arbitrator's decision awarding it certain damages. In challenging the award, the D'Angelos contended that the arbitrator's award was too low because he did not consider their additional costs to replace and re-shingle their roof. According to the D'Angelos, the failure of the arbitrator to consider these costs constituted an "evident miscalculation of figures." The trial court declined to modify the award, finding that the amount of damages was a contested issue of fact decided by the arbitrator. On appeal, the D'Angelos urged the Court of Appeals to adopt a broad interpretation of "evident miscalculation of figures" adopted by some federal courts. The Court of Appeals declined. While not specifically adopting its own definition of the term under 11-15-135(1)(a), the Court held:

In the present case, the amount of damages the arbitrator awarded was not the product of an evident miscalculation of figures; rather, the amount was simply based upon the lowest repair estimate submitted by the D'Angelos. The amount of damages to which the D'Angelos were entitled was a contested issue of fact, and any judicial correction of the damages award would affect the merits. Because it is not appropriate for this Court to inquire into the evidentiary basis of the award, and because we must indulge every reasonable presumption in favor of the validity of the arbitration. we hereby affirm

The wording of 11-15-135(1)(a) is identical to the wording of statutory arbitration acts in many other states and the appellate courts of those states have had opportunities to construe the

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